IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 79,276

JAMES ROGER HUFF,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT, IN AND FOR SUMTER COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Billy H. Nolas Fla. Bar No. 806821 Julie D. Naylor Fla. Bar No. 794351 P.O. Box 4905 Ocala, FL 32678-4905 (904) 620-0458

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the Circuit Court's summary denial of Mr. Huff's motion for post-conviction relief, filed pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. No evidentiary hearing was conducted below.

ARGUMENT

(I)

THE CIRCUIT COURT'S TREATMENT OF THE MOTION TO VACATE WAS ERRONEOUS AND VIOLATED DUE PROCESS.

A. <u>The Circuit Court Erred in its Treatment of the Motion to</u> <u>Vacate</u>

1. The Procedure Followed by the Trial Court Violated Due Process

When Mr. Huff first filed for relief pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 the Circuit Court struck the **motion** and refused to consider Appellant's requests for relief. This Court found that the Circuit Court's treatment of the application for Rule 3.850 relief violated Mr. Huff's due process rights, reversed the trial court's ruling, and remanded the case for appropriate trial court consideration. <u>Huff v. State</u>, No. 74,201 (Fla. Oct. 11, 1990). Proceedings below were reinitiated.

On September 6, 1991, while Appellant was pursuing relief after the remand, Appellant's counsel received a letter drafted by James Hope, the Assistant State Attorney representing the State below, which had been previously provided to the trial court. The letter attached an order which had been drafted by the State for the trial court's signature (M. 398). The record reflects no hearing at which the trial court requested a proposed order. There is also no written document from the trial court requesting that the parties submit proposed orders. Indeed, at the time Appellant's counsel received the State's order, Appellant was preparing for an evidentiary hearing as this would have been the next step in the litigation process. Not only is there no record

request (oral or written) for proposed orders by the trial court, there is no record indication (oral or written) by the trial court of how it perceived the claims or what it perceived as proper findings -- this is not a case where a trial judge states his or her findings in open court **and** then requests that a party memorialize them in a written proposed order.

The record does not reflect what, if any, discussions the trial judge had with the Assistant State Attorney prior to the provision of the State's order. If there were such communications, Appellant was not a party to them. The trial court neither requested a response, nor did it afford Appellant a reasonable opportunity to respond, nor did it conduct any hearing regarding the order. In fact, no in-court proceedings whatsoever have been allowed on the Rule 3.850 motion, before or after the remand.

Nothing in the record reflected that the trial court believed it would be appropriate to sign the State's order or even to deny relief. Then, before Appellant had the opportunity to file a formal objection or response to the State's order and without the benefit of any response, the trial judge signed it. The order "issued" by the trial court was identical to the one submitted by the State in every respect.

Appellant then sought rehearing, addressing the improprieties in the trial court's disposition and in the procedure the trial court employed (M. 398-406). The State responded to the rehearing motion by forwarding a letter to the trial judge stating that the procedure involved in the denial of relief in this case was

appropriate and <u>had been confirmed as **appropriate by** the Florida</u> <u>Supreme Court</u> (M. 407-08). The trial court summarily denied the rehearing motion, without comment (M. 443).

No request for proposed orders had been made by the Circuit Court, nor did the court indicate what its rulings or findings were going to be. No notice was given that the court would even entertain an order drafted by a party. And the court not only signed the State's order without requesting comments or objections from Mr. Huff's counsel, it signed it before counsel had a reasonable chance to respond. Not even the normal period of time for the filing of a response under the applicable rules of procedure was allowed. As discussed <u>infra</u>, the procedure involved in this case in every meaningful sense mirrored the procedure condemned by this Court and found to warrant reversal in <u>Rose v.</u> <u>State</u>, No. 74,248, 17 FLW ___ (Fla. May 28, 1992).

In submitting its order, the State presented to the Court findings in the light most favorable to its position. The State used the order to amend and strengthen its arguments on the issues. The order is the State's self-serving document, signed by the judge without the benefit of evidentiary or even independent resolution of the issues.

When a court is required to make findings, "the findings must be based on something more than a one-sided presentation of the evidence . . [and] require the exercise by an impartial tribunal of its function of weighing and appraising evidence offered, not by one party to the controversy, but by **both.**" <u>Simms v. Greene</u>, 161

F.2d 87, 89 (3rd Cir. 1947). A death-sentenced inmate deserves at least as much. The procedure involved in Mr. Huff's case, however, not only calls into question the impartiality of the Circuit Court, <u>Ree s e , supra</u>, slip op. at 5-6, 17 FLW ____, it violated Mr. Huff's rights to an independent resolution by the trial court of the issues involved in his case. <u>Rose, supra</u>. Cf. <u>Huff v. State</u>, No. 74,201 (Fla. Oct. 11, 1990) (finding that the Circuit Court's prior disposition in this case violated due process).

[T]he reviewing court deserves the assurance [given by even-handed consideration of the positions of both parties] that the trial court has come to grips with apparently irreconcilable conflicts in the evidence... and has distilled therefrom true facts in the crucible of his conscience.

<u>E.E.O.C. v. Federal Reserve Board of Richmond,</u> 698 F. 2d 633, 640-41 (4th Cir. **1983),** quoting <u>Golf City, Inc. v.</u> Sporting <u>Goods,</u> <u>Inc.</u>, 555 F. 2d 426, 435 (5th Cir. 1977).

Rule 3.850 proceedings are governed by the principles of due process. <u>Holland v. State</u>, 503 So.2d 1250 (Fla. 1987). When a court adopts wholesale one side's submission "the taste remains" that the ruling was provided "by the prevailing party to a bitter dispute." <u>Amstar Corp. v. Domino's Pizza, Inc.</u>, 615 F. 2d 252, 258 (5th Cir. 1980). <u>See also Shaw v. Martin</u>, 733 F. 2d 304, 309 n.7 (4th Cir. 1984); <u>Rose v. State</u>, <u>sunra</u>. Given the heightened scrutiny which the eighth amendment requires in **capital cases**, **a** resolution such as the one involved in this case is even more distasteful.

This Court has held that it is reversible error for a Circuit Court to deny a Rule 3.850 motion without an examination of the

trial record. <u>See</u> <u>Steinhorstv. State</u>, 498 So. 2d 414 (Fla. 1986). It is unclear here whether the trial court reviewed the record or whether that was done only by the State, a party opponent. Cf. <u>Rose</u>, <u>susra</u>.

Contrary to the position taken by the State below when responding to Mr. Huff's motion for rehearing -- that this Court has approved the procedure followed by the State and Circuit Court in this case -- this Court has expressly condemned such practices, Most recently, in <u>Rose v. State</u>, No. 74,248, 17 FLW _____ (Fla. May 28, 1992), this Court reversed the denial of 3.850 relief and remanded for full and fair consideration by the trial court precisely because the trial court acted in a manner akin to the trial court's actions here.

In <u>Rose</u>, as here, "the State submitted a proposed order, adopted in its entirety by the trial court, denying all relief." <u>Rose</u>, slip op. at 3, 17 FLW at In <u>Rose</u>, as here, there was no record statement from the trial court regarding what it believed to be an appropriate resolution before receiving the State's order. In <u>Rose</u>, as here, the trial court "adopted the State's proposed **order"** without allowing the Petitioner's counsel **"an** opportunity to object to its contents." <u>Rose</u>, slip op. at 3, 17 FLW at . In <u>Rose</u>, this Court forcefully condemned the procedure employed in denying relief -- the same procedure as that involved in Mr. Huff's case -- and reversed, remanding for resolution **by** the court.

Indeed, even where a request for a proposed order "is made in the presence of both parties or by a written communication to both

parties" -- assuredly not the case here -- this Court has condemned
"[t]he judicial practice of requesting one party to prepare a
proposed order for consideration" as "fraught with danger" and
"giv[ing] the appearance of impropriety." Rose, slip op. at 4, 17
FLW at .

Citing Canon **3A(4)** of Florida's Code of Judicial Conduct, this Court stated:

No matter how pure the intent of the party who engages in such contacts, without the benefit of a reply, a judge is placed in the position of possibly receiving inaccurate information or being unduly swayed by unrebutted remarks about the other side's case. The other party should not have to bear the risk of factual oversights or inadvertent negative impressions that might easily be corrected by the chance to present counter arguments.

<u>Rose v. State</u>, slip op. at 5, FLW at

As in <u>Rose</u>, the record here does not reflect the extent of communications between the Circuit Court and the State prior to the submission of the State's proposed order. As in <u>Rose</u>, the Circuit Court here signed the order without affording Appellant an opportunity to respond. As in <u>Rose</u>, the procedure involved in Appellant's case demonstrates not only that the treatment received by Appellant below was fundamentally unfair, the procedure employed calls into question the impartiality of the trial judge.

"The impartiality of the trial judge must be beyond question." <u>Rose</u>, slip op. at 5, 17 FLW at In his concurring opinion in <u>Rose</u>, Justice Harding further noted that even regarding noncontroversial administrative matters, care should be exercised to allow both parties equal participation. "Ex parte communications

with a judge, even when related to such matters as scheduling, can often damage the perception of fairness and should be avoided where at all possible." <u>Rose</u>, slip op. at 8, 17 FLW at ____ (Harding, J., concurring).

Here, it was not a scheduling matter that was involved, but the ultimate ruling of the court. Appellant's 3.850 application was initially treated in a way which violated due process. <u>Huff v.</u> <u>State</u>, No. 74,201 (Fla. Oct. 11, 1990). After this Court's remand, Appellant's application was again denied in a manner which cannot be squared with due process and fundamental fairness. <u>Rose v.</u> <u>State</u>, **supra**. As in <u>Rose</u>, Appellant's case should be remanded for impartial consideration <u>by the trial court</u>.

2. The Order Was Fundamentally Flawed.

The State's order, signed by the trial court, attached <u>no</u> specific portion of the record to support the summary denial of relief. As in <u>Hoffman v. State</u>, 571 **So.2d** 449 (Fla. **1990)**, the order purported to support the summary denial of relief by "incorporating" "the record" in its entirety "as though attached." (<u>See M. 397</u>, "This court incorporates the record herein as though attached to this order in support of summary denial.").

When a Circuit Judge denies a 3.850 motion without an evidentiary hearing, the express terms of the rule require the Judge to attach "a copy of that portion of the files and records which conclusively shows that the prisoner is entitled to no relief \dots^{I} Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. This rule is premised on the requirement that the trial court support any denial of relief with

concrete facts: if the Petitioner is to be denied the opportunity to establish claims at an evidentiary hearing, the Petitioner is at least entitled to an order attaching specific record items which support the trial court's findings.

This Court discussed this rule, and the impropriety of a disposition such as the one involved in Appellant's case, in <u>Hoffman v. State.</u> As in <u>Hoffman</u>, the procedure employed here did not afford Appellant due process:

The state argued that the entire record is attached to the order in the Court file before **us**, thus fulfilling this requirement. However, such a construction of the rule would render its language meaningless. The record is attached to <u>every</u> case before this Court. Some greater degree of specificity is required.

Hoffman, 571 So.2d at 450 (emphasis in original).

Here, the Circuit Court did not allow Appellant an evidentiary hearing. The order then denied relief by making findings of fact adverse to Appellant without attaching specific portions of the record supporting the findings (see section B, infra).

The procedure followed here violated due process (see section A(1), supra; Rose v. State, supra) and resulted in an order which was fundamentally flawed. <u>Hoffman v. State</u>.

B. <u>The Circuit Court Erred In Not Allowing An Evidentiary</u> <u>Hearing.</u>

Mr. Huff presented the Rule 3.850 trial court with claims which require an evidentiary hearing for their proper resolution. The issues included claims of ineffective assistance of **counsel.** The issues included claims premised on this Court's intervening,

retroactive decisions in Caso v. State, 524 So.2d 422, 425 (Fla. 1988), and <u>Alvord v. State</u>, 541 So.2d 598, 600 (Fla. 1989), <u>see</u> also Traylor v. State, 596 So.2d 957, 966 (Fla. 1992); <u>Thompson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 17 FLW S78, S79 (Fla. Jan. 30, 1992), which required evidentiary resolution and full and fair treatment. And Appellant submitted additional factual claims for relief. The claims related specifically pled allegations of fact, including matters that are not of-record. The files and records did not rebut the allegations and no specific portions of the record were appended to the order denying relief (see section A(2), supra, discussing, <u>Hoffman v.</u> State).

Under this Court's well-settled precedents, a Rule 3.850 movant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless "the motion and the files and the records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief." Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850; <u>Lemon</u> <u>v. State</u>, 498 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1986); <u>State v. Crews</u>, 477 So. 2d 984 (Fla. 1985); <u>O'Callaqhan v. State</u>, 461 So. 2d 1354 (Fla. 1984); <u>State v. Sireci</u>, 502 So. 2d 1221 (Fla. 1987); <u>Mason v. State</u>, 489 so. 2d 734 (Fla. 1986); <u>Squires v. State</u>, 513 So. 2d 138 (Fla. 1987); <u>Gorham v. State</u>, 521 So. 2d 1067 (Fla. 1988). Mr. Huff's motion alleged facts which, when proven at a hearing, would entitle him to relief. An evidentiary hearing was (and is) appropriate. The summary denial was erroneous. Indeed, claims such as those involved in Appellant's case have traditionally been tested through evidentiary hearings in Rule 3.850 proceedings.

As noted above, no specific portions of the files or records were attached to the order denying relief. Although it is not sufficient to direct the clerk of court to attach the entire record on appeal to an order denying 3.850 relief, <u>Hoffman</u>, this is what the trial court did when it signed the State's order denying Mr. Huff's motion (M. 397).

The trial court erred. An evidentiary hearing is appropriate in this case. For example, the question of whether a prisoner was denied effective assistance of counsel during capital proceedings is a classic example of a claim requiring an evidentiary hearing for proper resolution. <u>See</u> <u>Squires v. State</u>, 513 So.2d 138 (Fla. 1987) ; Groover v. State, 489 So. 2d 15 (Fla. 1986). Mr. Huff's claim that he did not receive a professionally adequate pretrial mental health evaluation is also a traditionally-recognized Rule 3.850 evidentiary claim. See Groover . Mr. Huff's claims based on the intervening retroactive decisions in Caso and Alvord seriously called into question the constitutionality of the means by which Appellant's alleged statement was obtained. The issues of fact raised by Appellant related to the substantive claim, its prior resolution, and to questions of ineffective assistance of counsel. This claim was properly before the court in these proceedings (See Argument II(A), infra, discussing Caso and Alvord). It involved contested issues of fact which necessitated an evidentiary hearing for their proper resolution.' In short, numerous evidentiary

¹ Mr. Huff pled that he had not been provided with full warnings as to his right to counsel. The State contested certain (continued...)

claims requiring a full and fair hearing for their proper resolution were presented by Mr. Huff's Rule 3.850 motion.

A Circuit Court errs when it denies relief by making findings of fact adverse to the Petitioner if it does not allow the Petitioner the opportunity to establish the claims at an evidentiary hearing. The Circuit Court so erred in Appellant's case. This case should be remanded for an impartial ruling by the trial court (see section A, supra) and for an evidentiary hearing.

(II)

APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT HIS PURPORTED STATEMENT WAS ADMITTED AT TRIAL IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS, AND HIS CLAIM THAT HE WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DUE TO THE FORMER ATTORNEYS' INADEQUATE LITIGATION OF THE ISSUE, WERE PROPERLY BEFORE THE TRIAL COURT AND REQUIRED AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING AND RULE 3.850 RELIEF.

A. <u>Inadequate Warninss</u>

On direct appeal, Mr. Huff argued that the "state never established the proper predicate that sufficient <u>Miranda [v.</u> <u>Arizona,</u> 384 U.S. 436 (1966),] warnings were given by Overly [the officer who the State said provided the 'warnings' to Appellant.] At no time did Overly ever remember telling the appellant that he

¹(...continued)

of the facts pled by Appellant which demonstrated that his case involved error under <u>Caso</u>, <u>Alvord</u>, and their progeny. The trial court signed the State's order, which included the State's version of what it wanted the findings to be, without affording Appellant an evidentiary hearing and with a general citation to testimony which did not rebut the claim (M. 393, discussed in Argument II(A), <u>infra</u>).

was entitled to appointed counsel if he could not afford **one."** Initial brief of Appellant, <u>Huff v. State,</u> Case No. 65,695, p. 33.

On direct appeal, the State responded by arguing that

Overly recalled giving all the warnings except the fact that counsel would be appointed at state expense if appellant could not afford private counsel (<u>Huff I</u>, R. 1821-22; 1827-28). Failure to inform a suspect of the availability of appointed counsel does not warrant suppressing an otherwise voluntary statement. <u>Alvord v. State</u>, 322 **So.2d** 533 (Fla. **1975)...**

Answer Brief of Appellee, Huff v. state, No. 65,695, p.12.

At trial, Appellant's counsel argued that proper warnings pursuant to <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u>, 384 U.S. 436 (1966), had not been provided to Appellant, that the resulting statement should be suppressed, and that because the defense counsel who had litigated the suppression hearing in <u>Huff I</u> had failed to adequately litigate this issue the State's argument that the <u>Huff I</u> ruling admitting the statements was "law of the case" should be rejected (<u>See</u>, R. 867).

The State responded by arguing that <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u> rights need not be "recited verbatim" (R. 861); that this Court's ruling in <u>Alvord I</u> (322 So.2d 533 (Fla. 1975)) stood "for the proposition that it is not fatal to admissibility to give an incomplete Miranda Warning <u>where you fail to indicate to the Defendant that counsel</u> <u>would be supplied to him at State expense</u>" (R. 864, emphasis supplied); that Overly's statement that Appellant "had" the right to counsel, although omitting the provision that an attorney would be made available to Appellant without expense if Appellant wished

one during questioning, "comes close enough" (R. 865); that the statement should not be suppressed because "anyone who watches TV knows the Miranda Rights pretty much by **heart"** (R. 865); and that the prior ruling denying the motion to suppress in <u>Huff I</u> was "law of the **case"** or **"res judicata"** (R. 875). The State also sought to argue that Mr. Huff was not in custody and therefore that <u>Miranda</u> did not apply (R. 856-57). The trial court summarily ruled that the warnings given were **"adequate"** (presumably under <u>Alvord I</u>) and that **"I** feel it is the law of the case and Res judicata and will not disturb the original ruling [**sic**]" (R. 877-78).

In his 3.850 motion and supporting supplemental proffer/ memorandum (M. 333, 345-49), Appellant asserted that the admission of the purported statement violated his rights, <u>inter alia</u>, because of the inadequacy of the warnings provided. Appellant pled specific facts in support of his claim and requested an evidentiary hearing to afford resolution to any contested issues of fact.

Appellant specifically relied on this Court's intervening retroactive decisions in <u>Caso v. State</u>, 524 **So.2d** 422, 425 (Fla. **1988)**, and <u>Alvord v. State</u>, 541 **So.2d** 598, 600 (Fla. 1989) (<u>Alvord</u> **II**), and explained that these decisions affected the prior denial of relief on his claim, that this change in law warranted consideration of the claim in these proceedings and, given the facts pled, that the claim warranted an evidentiary hearing (M. 345-49).

<u>Caso</u> and <u>Alvord II</u> were not available at the time the claim was previously denied at trial and on appeal. They directly

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