~ •

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OCT 12 1992

CLERK, SURREME COURT, By\_\_\_\_\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

JAMES ROGER HUFF,

Appellant,

v.

÷ 1

÷.

3

CASE NO. 79,276

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

> ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR SUMTER COUNTY, FLORIDA

> > ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #618550 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

####

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

HUFF'S CLAIM THAT HE WAS DENIED HIS FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT TO CONFRONT THE EVIDENCE AGAINST HIM IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Huff claims that he was denied his right to confront Sheriff Johnson when he was not permitted to impeach Sheriff Johnson with evidence regarding sexual improprieties. This was raised as Claim VII in Huff's original motion for postconviction relief (M 55-58), and presented as Claim F in Huff's supplemental motion (M 372-76). The trial court correctly found that the claim had been raised on direct appeal and was thus procedurally barred (M 396). See, Byrd v. State 597 So.2d 252 (Fla. 1992). The claim was raised in Point XIII on direct appeal, and this court found that all claims not specifically addressed were without merit. Huff, supra at 153.

Even if the claim were cognizable, it is clearly without merit. The investigation regarding Sheriff Johnson's conduct had been completed four months before the instant murders (R 1067-68), and any evidence regarding it was clearly a collateral matter. Questions on cross examination must be related to credibility or to matters brought out on direct. See, Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 337 (Fla. 1982). The trial court has broad discretion in the admission of evidence, and unless an abuse of that discretion can be demonstrated, its ruling will not be disturbed. Hardwick v. State, 521 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1988). A defendant is not entitled to unlimited cross examination in whatever way and to whatever extent the defense might wish. Kentucky v. Stincer, 482 U.S. 730 (1987), quoting, Delaware v. Fensterer, 474 U.S. 15, 20 (1985). Huff was afforded ample opportunity to cross examine the witness, and Johnson's sexual misconduct was not relevant to any issue or his credibility.<sup>4</sup>

Even if the claim were cognizable and error occurred, it was harmless at worst.

Whether such an error is harmless in a particular case depends upon a host of factors, all readily accessible to reviewing courts. These factors include the importance of the witness' testimony in the prosecution's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence absence evidence corroborating or or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent examination otherwise cross of permitted, and, of course, the overall strength of the prosecution's case.

Delaware v. VanArsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 684 (1986). In the present case, none of the testimony excluded was relevant, the allegations of sexual impropriety were unfounded, defense counsel was permitted liberal cross examination, and the points defense counsel wished to elicit were designed only to embarrass the witness. Error, if any, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Diguilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

In his brief, Huff also states:

The trial court's ruling precluding defense counsel from pursuing appropriate avenues of confrontation rendered counsel ineffective. Counsel would so testify at an evidentiary hearing. The trial court's erroneous ruling also affected counsel's overall

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Sheriff Johnson had lost his bid for reelection long before the instant trial (R 1068).

performance, as counsel never recovered from the court's preclusion on a central aspect of the case the defense wished to present. An evidentiary hearing was needed on the effect of the trial court's ruling on defense counsel's performance and on the error resulting from the trial court's ruling -affording this Court an appropriate record for review of this claim.

(IB 54). Huff never alleged below that counsel's "overall performance" was affected, and simply alleged:

In denying this right [to confrontation], the trial court violated Mr. Huff's fundamental right to present his defense in this capital case, and rendered defense counsel ineffective.

(M 376). The allegations below were conclusory and insufficient to state an ineffectiveness claim, and were nothing more than an attempt to relitigate an issue that was decided adversely on direct appeal. *See, Medina v. State,* 573 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1990). The additional allegations presented on this appeal are not cognizable as they were never argued below. *Doyle v. State,* 526 So.2d 909, 911 (Fla. 1988) (a claim not presented to the trial court in a rule 3.850 motion cannot be raised for the first time on appeal from the denial of post conviction relief). The trial court was correct in finding the claim procedurally barred and in summarily denying relief.

HUFF'S CLAIMS THAT THE STATE VIOLATED HIS RIGHTS BY COMMENTING ON HIS RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT ARE PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Huff alleges that his conviction should be reversed based on two occasions where the prosecutor allegedly commented on Huff's right to remain silent. This was raised in Claim VIII in Huff's original motion for postconviction relief (M 59-62), and in Claim G in his supplemental motion (M 376-79). The first instance involves evidence of Huff's refusal to take a qunshot residue test, and the second involves a question to Mabry Williams as to whether Huff mentioned his parents during a conversation about what had happened. The trial court correctly that these claims were procedurally barred found (M 396). Alleged error regarding evidence of the refusal to take a gunshot residue test was specifically raised in Point XVII on appeal, and any claim regarding the question to Mabry Williams could and should have been raised on direct appeal. Issues raised and rejected on direct appeal are not properly raised in a motion to vacate. Brown v. State, 596 So.2d 1026 (Fla. 1992).

Even if the claims were cognizable, relief is not warranted. As to the gunshot residue test, appellee would first point out that the authority presented to this court, *Herring v. State*, 501 So.2d 19 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), was never argued to the trial court, so to the extent that the argument on appeal differs than that presented to the trial court, there is an additional procedural bar.<sup>5</sup> *Doyle, supra.* See also *Brown, supra* (raising a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In his motion for postconviction relief, Huff alleged that the

different argument in a motion to vacate sentence in order to relitigate issues raised and rejected on direct appeal is Further, as Justice Grimes pointed out in his improper). concurring opinion in Occhicone v. State, 570 So.2d 902, 907-08 (Fla. 1990), Herring is based on erroneous premise, as refusal to take a hand-swab test is not protected by the constitutional privilege that no one may be compelled to testify against See also, Wilson v. State, 596 So. 2d 775, 778 (Fla. 1st DCA himself. 1992) ("There being no constitutional privilege against taking a test, such as providing a handwriting sample, it follows that there is significant probative value in a refusal to take such a test).

Huff's claim regarding the questioning of Investigator Mabry is likewise without merit. The question was asked on redirect; on cross examination defense counsel had questioned Mabry about conversations with Huff regarding descriptions of the persons who allegedly killed his parents, that his mother had been driving the car, and that Huff was hysterical at the crime scene (R 1269-74). Mabry was also asked about Huff telling him that he had been hit on the head (R 1276). On redirect, the prosecutor asked questions about what Huff said about being hit on the head, whether he asked to see a doctor or complained about his head hurting, what Huff said to Sheriff Johnson, Huff's description of the assailant's, and how Huff acted (R 1347-50).

admission of his refusal to take the test violated the Fifth Amendment (M 60-62, 378-79). As Huff acknowledges, the issue raised in Herring, *supra* was probativeness.

Only those comments which are "fairly susceptible" of being interpreted as a comment on silence will be treated as such, *State v. Diguilio*, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Huff's failure to ask about his parents was not susceptible to the interpretation that Huff had chosen to exercise his right to silence, but rather was an omission in what he told the officers. As in *Watson v. State*, 504 So.2d 1267 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), the fact that Huff had not inquired about his parents could not be construed as a comment on his right to silence where he had not invoked that right and was talking with the officer. Huff did not exercise his right to silence or decline to answer any questions. Rather, the question to the investigator was whether he had ever mentioned his parents, not whether he declined to answer questions about their condition.

The case cited by Huff, *Peterson v. State*, 405 So.2d 997 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), is inapplicable. In that case, the arresting officer testified that Peterson said he would answer some questions, but would stop when he did not want to answer any more. The officer also said that Peterson made a partial explanation about the gloves he was wearing, but would not explain the time of day. The court held that the first statement was an improper reference to Peterson's assertion of the right to decline questioning, and the second statement exacerbated the effect of the first statement and was an improper reference to the exercise of the privilege to decline to answer further questions. As stated, Huff did not exercise his right to silence or decline to answer any questions.

- 28 -

Even if the claim is cognizable, and the question was erroneous, any error is harmless. *Diguilio, supra*. Appellee would first point out that defense counsel first brought this issue to the jury's attention when he asked Officer Overly if Huff was concerned about his parents (R 918), so Huff should not be heard to complain that the prosecutor asked a different officer the same question. Further, such comment certainly did not affect the verdict in light of all of the other evidence presented, particularly where the jury heard that Huff had expressed concern for his parents.

HUFF'S CLAIMS THAT THIS COURT ERRED IN REVIEWING HIS SENTENCES OF DEATH ON DIRECT APPEAL ARE NOT COGNIZABLE IN A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF.

Huff claims that his sentences and their affirmance violates Sochor v. Florida, 112 S.Ct. 2114 (1992); Clemons v. Mississippi, 494 U.S. 738 (1990), and Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393 (1987). Huff contends: (1) the striking of mitigation was based on a misreading of the record; (2) this court did not undertake a meaningful harmless error analysis after striking an aggravating factor; (3) this court's resolution of the "lack of remorse improper; (4) the application of the issue" was heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating factor warrants reconsideration Sochor, supra; and, (5) the cold, calculated and in light of premeditated aggravating factor is not supported by the evidence. The only one of these claims that was presented to the trial court was that this court improperly struck the mitigating factor of no significant prior criminal history, and the trial court found that the issue was not cognizable in a 3.850 proceeding (R This ruling is correct since a motion to vacate under 396). Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 must be directed to the iudqment and sentence of the trial court and under no interpretation of this rule can any action of the Florida Supreme Court be reviewed. Foster v. State, 400 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1981).

Huff's remaining claims, that were never presented to the trial court, are not cognizable an appeal. *Doyle, supra.* Further, since all of the allegations are directed to this court's actions, they are not cognizable in a 3.850 proceeding. *Foster*,

- 30 -

*supra*. Finally, they are procedurally barred since they involve matters which were or could have been raised on direct appeal.

ъ с.

HUFF'S CLAIM THAT THE PROSECUTOR'S USE OF PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES VIOLATED HIS RIGHTS IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED; COUNSEL RENDERED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE.

Huff claims that the prosecutor's use of peremptory systematically excluded all potential challenges jurors who indicated even a question regarding the death penalty and left a jury prone to convict and impose death. This was presented in Claim X of Huff's original motion for postconviction relief (M 62-80). The trial court properly found that this claim was procedurally barred (R 396). Jury selection issues should be raised on direct appeal and are procedurally barred in post Roberts v. State, 568 So.2d 1255 (Fla. conviction proceedings. Allegations of ineffective assistance cannot be used to 1990). circumvent the rule that postconviction proceedings cannot serve as a second appeal. Medina v. State, 573 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1990). In any event, the claim is without merit as this issue does not involve challenges for cause, as was the case in Witherspoon v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 510 (1968), but rather the exercise of peremptory challenges.

Huff's conclusory allegations that counsel was ineffective are insufficient on their face, and neither an evidentiary hearing nor relief was warranted, *Roberts v. State, 568* So. 2d 1255 (Fla. 1990); *Kennedy v. State,* 547 So.2d 912 (Fla. 1989). Huff simply alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to this process, but did not allege why this constituted deficient performance or how he was prejudiced. In any event, counsel's performance was not deficient and prejudice cannot be

- 32 -

demonstrated, As stated, this is not a Witherspoon issue, and counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for not raising claims that are without merit. Further, the United States Supreme Court has rejected the suggestion that Witherspoon has broad application outside the context of capital sentencing, and since Huff waived the advisory jury, the jury had no role in sentencing, so Witherspoon is inapplicable. Lockhart v. McCree, 476 U.S. 162 (1986).

COUNSEL RENDERED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE,

Huff contends that counsel provided ineffective assistance with regard to his waiver of an advisory jury. Huff alleges that: (1) counsel had not investigated mitigation and prepared for sentencing so could not meaningfully discuss what Huff was foregoing; (2) counsel did not request sufficient time to discuss situation with Huff; and, (3)that counsel the rendered ineffective assistance in not seeking a mental health evaluation as Huff was "obviously distraught at the time of the waiver" and this condition undermined a valid waiver. Huff also claims that "waiver colloquy" was insufficient since the trial court the never asked counsel what mitigation he had prepared. This was raised in Claim V of Huff's original motion for postconviction relief (M 49-54), and in Claim E of his supplemental motion (M 368 - 72).

The trial court found that Huff was not denied effective assistance of counsel when no continuance was requested; that Huff voluntarily waived the advisory recommendation; that Huff failed to allege how the outcome of the proceedings would have been different; and, that even if the testimony had been presented, the outcome of the proceeding would not have been different (R 395). Huff has failed to demonstrate error in the trial court's ruling, and no evidentiary hearing was required,

Appellee first contends that Huff's claim that the "waiver colloquy" was insufficient is procedurally barred since it could have been raised on direct appeal. Further, even though Huff did not specifically raise this claim, this court found:

- 34 -

It must be noted at the outset that appellant explicitly, knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently waived his right to an advisory sentencing jury recommendation. This waiver was against the advice of appellant's own counsel and over the state's objection. We have previously held that such a waiver is permissible.

Huff v. State, 495 So.2d 145, 150 (Fla. 1986). This court recently set for-th a rule to be applied in situations where a defendant waives the presentation of mitigating evidence, and specifically stated that it was to be applied prospectively. Koon v. Dugger, 17 F.L.W. 337 (Fla. June 4, 1992). See also, Durocher v. State, 17 F.L.W. 542 (Fla. July 23, 1992). Consequently, the trial court was correct in finding the instant claim procedurally barred. <sup>6</sup> See Muhammad V. State, 17 F.L.W. 359 (Fla. June 11, 1992).

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